I. INTRODUCTION 

Swift action can save lives. Public health emergencies 

cause a vital need for prompt action to defend the safety and 

lives of workers. And, in turn, when an employer objects to 

governmental efforts to protect these workers, it cannot 

belatedly assert defenses that it could and should have 

presented promptly for resolution. 

COVID-19 upended life as we know it. And an 

avalanche of public health evidence showed that restaurants and 

food service settings were particularly vulnerable to COVID-19 

transmission and outbreaks. So in response to an alarming surge 

in the pandemic, the Governor acted to protect the public by 

temporarily prohibiting indoor-dining services.  

Farm Boy Drive In, owned by Mary Fowler, openly 

flouted the Governor’s proclamations and L&I’s workplace 

safety rules that adopted the proclamations. So L&I acted 

immediately to obtain a temporary restraining order to protect 

Farm Boy’s workers and customers. L&I provided notice 
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orally, by email, and by service of process to the restaurant and 

explained to the superior court the need for immediate 

intervention to protect employee health. The court agreed, 

issuing a TRO.  

Fowler continued to violate the law and ignored the 

TRO. Meanwhile, she appeared and argued at hearings—and in 

briefs and declarations—that the trial court should not have 

issued the TRO based on its merits. But she never challenged as 

deficient the petition’s certification about notice until two 

months after court issued the TRO and held contempt hearings. 

Only then, in a passing sentence, did Fowler suggest there was 

an incomplete certification related to documenting efforts to 

provide notice under CR 65(b).  

The superior court correctly ruled that Fowler waived all 

procedural defenses because she sat on them “until the practical 

conclusion of this case.” CP 1021. On appeal, L&I reiterated 

that Fowler had waived any procedural argument.  
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But the Court of Appeals failed to even consider waiver. 

Instead, it ruled that a defect in the certification on a different 

ground not raised by Fowler at the superior court—certification 

why notice should not be required for an ex parte TRO—

automatically voided the TRO and all later orders.  

In doing so, the Court of Appeals fashioned a rule that 

hurts Washingtonians protected by TROs because it relieves a 

party from their duty under the doctrine of waiver to timely 

disclose defects in notice. The rule would allow a defendant to 

reap the benefit of their own delay by allowing a procedural 

defect to fester until the plaintiff can no longer cure it—at the 

expense of worker safety. Yet many cases about TROs, waiver, 

due process, and personal jurisdiction reveal a cornerstone 

principle that a party cannot sit on their rights. Permitting a 

party to ignore putative errors while violating proclamations, 

rules, and court orders during a health emergency disrespects 

the rule of law and threatens Washingtonians’ lives.  

This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). 
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II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION 

L&I petitions for discretionary review of Department of 

Labor & Industries v. Fowler Nat D. and Mary M. dba Farm 

Boy Drive In, No. 55806-8-II (Sept. 7, 2022) (see Appendix). 

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Must a defendant promptly object to a putative defect in 
a CR 65(b) certification in order to argue for a TRO’s 
vacation, particularly when protecting workers and public 
health in a global pandemic hinges on quick action?  

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The COVID-19 Pandemic and Washington’s 
Response 

It cannot seriously be disputed that COVID-19 has been a 

grave public health emergency in the State. See CP 181-85, 

244-50, 255-99, 587-656. “The highly contagious COVID-19 

has spread worldwide, creating a global pandemic and infecting 

and killing millions of people.” In re Recall of Snaza, 197 

Wn.2d 104, 107, 480 P.3d 404 (2021).  

The Governor’s proclamations from December 2020 

starkly highlight the grim challenges facing Washington at that 

time: “since the latter part of October through December, 2020, 
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the number of COVID-19 cases continue to dramatically 

increase in Washington, and COVID-19-related hospitalizations 

have risen sharply, putting our people, our health system, and 

our economy in as dangerous a position as we faced in March 

2020.” CP 672-73. The State experienced the highest case 

counts, hospitalizations, and deaths to date then.1  

Restaurants have been high-risk environments and 

“powerful contributors to the spread of COVID-19.” CP 249; 

see CP 248, 292-99, 589, 591-93, 596-601, 613-35. As of 

December 5, 2020, health officials identified service and 

restaurant establishments in Washington as having the most 

COVID-19 cases out of all non-healthcare congregate settings, 

with over 50 percent more cases than the next highest setting. 

CP 599. Because of the high transmission risk in restaurants, 

the Governor ordered restaurants and bars closed for indoor-

dining services. CP 229-34, 236-41, 672-77, 679-82.  

                                           
1 Dep’t of Health, COVID-19 Data Dashboard, 

https://doh.wa.gov/emergencies/covid-19/data-dashboard. 

https://doh.wa.gov/emergencies/covid-19/data-dashboard
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Under the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act, 

L&I adopted emergency rules that prohibited employers from 

engaging in activities forbidden by the proclamations. WAC 

296-800-14035.2 L&I acted because workers had a “higher 

probability of dying from COVID-19 than from any of the other 

hazards that L&I regulates” and because “facilities such as full-

service restaurants are high risk hazards.” CP 249. The result 

was that from November 17 to January 31, Thurston County 

restaurants could not provide indoor-dining services. 

B. Fowler Disobeyed the Governor’s Proclamations, 
L&I’s Rules, and L&I’s Order of Immediate 
Restraint  

Farm Boy Drive In is a restaurant owned by Mary Fowler 

as a sole proprietor. Fowler violated the Governor’s 

proclamations and L&I’s rules. Two weeks after the prohibition 

on indoor dining began, the restaurant posted on Facebook:  

                                           
2 Wash. St. Reg. 20-23-076 (Nov. 16, 2020); Wash. St. 

Reg. 21-01-141 (Dec. 16, 2020); Wash. St. Reg. 21-02-047 
(Dec. 31, 2020); Wash. St. Reg. 21-03-034 ( Jan. 12, 2021). 
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Farm Boy Drive-In Restaurant 
December 1 at 11 :55 AM • 0 

FARMBOY DRIVE IN to Reopen WEDNESDAY 

••• 

Tomorrow at 8 a.m.FARMBOY DRIVE IN will re-open for DINE-IN and 
take-out business. 

We expect repercussions from our governor, but t he repercussions 
from FARMBOY DRIVE IN w ith your help, may not be what he expects. 
We've been in business for 40+ years w ith multiple family generations 
working here. As we cont inue to feed your families we have to feed 
our own. 

Please send Governor lnslee a note or call req uest ing his decision t o 
change f rom shutting down restaurants and other affected businesses. 
Write 
Governor Jay lnslee 
Office of the Governor 
PO Box 40002 
Olympia, WA 98504-0002 
Call 
360-902-411 1 
TTY/TDD call 711 or 
1' -800-833-6384, 

Fax 
360-753-4110 

We j oin spif fys restaurant and t he restaurant in Kennewick in saying our 
governor is making edicts beyond his j urisdiction. ENOUGH IS 
ENOUGH!! 

Government has invaded our lives t o the point t hat eit her we stand up 
and say ENOUGH IS ENOUGH or add to t he socialism state that is 
forming right before our eyes. 

Brian and Ali 
Farmboy Drive In 

0 0 " 999 476 Comments 662 Shares 

rfJ Like CJ Comment ~ Share 

Page 332 Most Relevant • 
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CP 332. 

L&I confirmed Fowler offered indoor dining and issued 

an order of immediate restraint under RCW 49.17.130 because 

of the dangers to workers. CP 251-52, 382. Fowler violated the 

immediate-restraint order. CP 251-52, 381-84.  

C. Fowler Appeared at Many Hearings and Responded 
in Writing to Defend Against the TRO on Its Merits 

L&I petitioned the superior court under RCW 49.17.130 

and .170 for injunctive relief to stop Farm Boy’s indoor dining 

from harming workers. CP 156-338, 349-55. On December 15, 

L&I notified representatives of Fowler at her restaurant location 

orally and by email and, on December 16 at 11:33 am, by 

service of process at the restaurant about the court action to stop 

indoor dining. CP 327-38, 985. L&I did not personally serve 

Fowler.3  

                                           
3 This was because RCW 49.17.130 allows for orders of 

immediate restraint against employers, with follow up TROs. 
Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals authority supports 
finding the restaurant to be the employer. E.g., In re Discount 
Tire Co. of Washington, Inc., No. 05 W1191, 2006 WL 
3530097, *3-*4 (Bd. of Indus. Ins. Appeals Sep. 5, 2006).  
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L&I’s certification under CR 65(b) reported that Farm 

Boy’s refusal to cease indoor dining “create[d] a risk or 

immediate and irreparable injury” to employees. CP 328. While 

the petition emphasized the need for “immediate intervention” 

because of the dangers of COVID-19 (CP 352), its certification 

didn’t use the words “reasons supporting the applicant’s claim 

that notice should not be required.” CP 326-28.  

The superior court granted L&I’s petition for a TRO on 

December 16 at 4:15 pm. CP 362-65. The TRO set a show 

cause hearing for December 22. CP 364. 

Fowler’s attorney filed a notice of appearance and 

appeared at the show cause hearing (and all subsequent 

hearings). At none of these hearings did Fowler challenge any 

procedural aspects of L&I’s petition or the TRO. Nor at the first 

hearing did Fowler move to dissolve the TRO under the 

dissolution procedures in CR 65(b). CP 369; RP (12/22/20) 4-8. 

Instead, she simply asked the trial court to continue the hearing 

for two weeks. RP (12/22/20) 7. The court granted that request, 
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setting a new show cause hearing for January 5, with Fowler’s 

agreement that the TRO “will remain in full force and effect 

until this continued hearing occurs.” RP (12/22/20) 7-8. 

Despite her agreement that the TRO remained in effect, 

Fowler made no secret of her intent to defy the TRO. Right 

after the December 22 hearing, her restaurant representative 

declared that “[w]e will continue to stay open,” and coyly 

disclosed:  

I cannot legally confirm or deny that we are open 
for dine-in seating. You can drive by and see if 
we’re open for dine-in seating, but I cannot 
publicly say that.  
 

CP 383. Accepting this invitation, an L&I investigator observed 

indoor dining at Farm Boy the next morning. CP 384. 

L&I moved for contempt on December 23 and requested 

a hearing be set for December 29. CP 375-76, 385-89. Before 

the hearing, Fowler submitted 28 declarations opposing the 

TRO on its merits. CP 397-461. All but three of the declarations 

blatantly admitted that Farm Boy provided indoor-dining 
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services. CP 397-454. Nowhere in any of these filings did 

Fowler suggest any irregularities with the TRO’s issuance or 

with the petition’s form. See CP 397-461.  

At the December 29 contempt hearing, Fowler made no 

suggestion that the issuance, form, or content of the TRO or 

petition was flawed. See RP (12/29/20) 1-16. Instead, she 

simply disputed the quality of L&I’s evidence in support of the 

contempt motion. RP (12/29/20) 10-11. Because Fowler had 

violated the TRO, the trial court entered a contempt order with 

sanctions for December 18 to 29. CP 465-68.  

On December 31, Fowler responded in writing to the 

TRO. CP 478-84. Here too, she made no argument about the 

sufficiency of the TRO nor did she claim any procedural 

irregularities with the petition. See CP 478-84.  

On January 1, the restaurant posted this on Facebook: 
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CP 494.  

At the January 5 show cause hearing, Fowler still did not 

raise any procedural issues with the petition and did not suggest 

that there was a problem with the TRO having been in effect 
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(with her agreement) until January 5. See RP (1/5/21) 4-20. The 

court later issued an order confirming L&I’s right to enforce 

WISHA, L&I’s well-grounded fear of immediate invasion of 

that right, the injury that would result by continued indoor 

dining, and that “[t]here is a substantial probability that death or 

serious physical harm could result to employees immediately or 

before the imminence of such danger can be eliminated through 

the enforcement procedures otherwise provided by Chapter 

49.17 RCW.” CP 505.  

The court ruled that “the TRO was properly issued and 

should remain in full force and effect until otherwise ordered by 

this Court or until Farm Boy is permitted to resume offering 

indoor dining services.” CP 506. The order, entered on January 

13, kept the TRO in place and set a preliminary injunction 

hearing for January 19. Id. 

Fowler continued to spurn the court’s orders by keeping 

Farm Boy open for indoor dining. CP 564-65, 585. So L&I 

moved for another order of contempt. CP 576-83. The hearing 
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was set for January 19—the same day as the preliminary 

injunction hearing. CP 706-07. On January 13, Fowler 

responded to the preliminary injunction motion, but yet again, 

she did not argue that the petition or TRO was procedurally 

flawed. CP 509-49.  

At the January 19 hearing, Fowler did not challenge the 

procedural propriety of the petition or TRO. RP (1/19/21) 6-8, 

18-26. The trial court issued the preliminary injunction, finding 

that L&I had satisfied the necessary elements for such an order, 

and also holding Fowler in contempt for the additional period 

of December 30 to January 7. RP (1/19/21) 35-36, CP 769-74. 

On February 8, Fowler moved to dismiss and vacate the 

court’s previous orders. And, for the very first time, she argued 

that there were procedural flaws in how the TRO had issued. 

This argument, however, was limited to whether a summons 

had been filed and served. CP 765-68. Fowler supplemented her 

motion to dismiss on February 22, CP 788-870, arguing that 

there was no personal jurisdiction. CP 808. The supplemental 
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motion—filed more than two months after the TRO issued and 

after several hearings, briefs, and declarations—asserted in a 

single sentence without citation to authority that L&I did not 

document its efforts to effectuate service. CP 804. In response 

to her procedural claims, L&I argued that Fowler waived all the 

belated objections. See CP 961, 968-69, 976.  

Nowhere in her briefing or oral arguments did Fowler 

ever argue that the certification failed under CR 65(b) related to 

reasons why notice should not be required.  

The superior court denied Fowler’s motion to dismiss 

and vacate. CP 1016-23. The court ruled that she had waived 

procedural arguments both “through their own affirmative 

requests that failed to include these defenses,” and “through 

their conduct.” CP 1020. The delay in raising the defenses, the 

court ruled, “prejudiced Plaintiff, the health of Defendants’ 

employees and the public, and the Court. Proper and timely 

addressing this issue would have allowed it to be remedied and 

for this case to be properly addressed on its merits.” CP 1021.  
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The trial court also found that because Thurston County 

had entered phase two of the Governor’s recovery plan, which 

permitted some indoor dining, the injunction should be vacated 

effective February 1. CP 1022-23. 

D. The Court of Appeals Reversed, Not Considering 
Waiver 

Fowler appealed the superior court order that she had 

waived any argument about notice. In response, L&I argued 

that “Farm Boy’s delay raising any argument about the TRO’s 

procedure, form, and content constituted a waiver and Farm 

Boy therefore cannot make those claims now.” Resp’t’s Br. 60. 

Without addressing the trial court’s ruling about waiving 

procedural issues or L&I’s argument about it and reaching an 

argument Fowler never raised below, the Court of Appeals 

ruled that because the certification did not “state the reasons 

why notice should not be required” (slip op. 20), the TRO and 

orders of contempt were necessarily void. Slip op. 19-21, 23.  
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V. REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW 

A. Courts Insist Parties Object to Purported Notice 
Errors or Waive Issue 

TROs under RCW 49.17 serve the important purpose of 

protecting workers from unsafe conditions. So it is imperative if 

there is a procedural defect in a TRO that an employer speak up 

so the error can be quickly corrected.  

Despite this important principle, the Court of Appeals 

reversed the trial court because it found a technical error with 

L&I’s TRO application that Fowler did not raise at all at the 

trial court. But not only was there no error, under the laws 

governing TROs, the doctrine of waiver, due process, and 

personal jurisdiction, a defendant needs to timely object to a 

purported procedural imperfection about a TRO action or else 

they waive the objection.  

1. Not using the magic words of why “notice 
should not be required” doesn’t nullify TROs 

Contrary to the new argument that the Court of Appeals 

found dispositive, there was no material error in L&I’s 
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certification. CR 65(b) doesn’t require notice to an adverse 

party to obtain a TRO if the applicant’s attorney certifies, “the 

efforts, if any, which have been made to give the notice and the 

reasons supporting the applicant’s claim that notice should not 

be required.” The plain language of this rule only requires that 

the certification contain a reason that supports not giving 

notice. The Court of Appeals held the TRO void solely because 

the certification didn’t use the words why “notice should not be 

required.” Slip op. 20 (citing CR 65(b)).  

Preliminarily, the Court of Appeals shouldn’t have 

considered the issue as it ignored that while Fowler had many 

opportunities to argue the certification issue at the trial court, 

she did not. See slip op. 7-11. Although Fowler criticized the 

certification because it did not state “that any efforts were made 

to contact the ‘party’—Mary M. Fowler, or her attorney” (CP 

804), she did not argue that L&I failed to justify in its 

certification why notice should not have been provided. Yet the 

Court of Appeals ignored RAP 2.5(a) to consider the issue 
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despite the established policy of requiring parties to raise issues 

below in the absence of manifest constitutional error, which 

Fowler did not allege. See State v. Strine, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749-

50, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013).  

As to whether the certification was defective, it is true 

that the words “notice should not be required” were not in the 

certification, but these words were unnecessary for two reasons. 

First, CR 65(b) only requires a certification to contain a reason 

justifying not giving notice, and there is nothing in court 

procedures that require “magic words.” See State v. Dye, 178 

Wn.2d 541, 554-55, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013). In the criminal 

context, for showings of necessity, “precedent does not call for 

magic words” but “a record evidencing the reasons for the 

action taken.” Id. (quotation omitted).   

Here, the certification verified that Farm Boy’s refusal to 

stop indoor dining “create[d] a risk of immediate and 

irreparable injury” to its employees. CP 328. The prospect of 

immediate and irreparable injury justified no notice.  
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Second, even if it is assumed that the words “notice 

should not be required” needed to be included, this does not 

mean the TRO should be vacated. This is because L&I 

substantially complied with the purpose of CR 65(b). See Black 

v. Dep’t of Lab. & Indus., 131 Wn.2d 547, 552, 933 P.2d 1025 

(1997). Error about notice are immaterial if a party satisfies the 

spirit of a procedural requirement. Id.; see In re Turay, 139 

Wn.2d 379, 390, 986 P.2d 790 (1999) (courts “strive[] to 

elevate substance over form” when considering sufficiency of 

filing to alert court of issue). 

The rule to include the reason for why “notice should not 

be required” ensures there is a valid reason for not giving 

notice. The spirit of this rule is met when it is clear that 

immediate action is necessary. Here, the certification explained 

to the court that Farm Boy’s refusal to stop indoor dining 

“create[d] a risk of immediate and irreparable injury” to its 

employees. CP 328. And as shown by the petition, notice 
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needed to be dispensed with because the serious danger to 

employees “necessitate[ed] immediate intervention.” CP 352.   

The petition’s expert declaration called for an immediate 

cessation of indoor dining: 

Irreparable injury will occur if Farm Boy Drive In does 
not cease in-door dining operations…immediately. Every 
day it operates workers and the public are at risk of 
contracting COVID-19. Contracting the disease will be 
irreparable if the condition becomes symptomatic with 
serious health consequences and potential death. 
   

CP 252. The filings showed why the court needed to 

immediately grant the TRO without notice. In this, and future 

cases, the Court of Appeals should not be allowed to impose a 

mistaken hyper-technical approach that threatens worker safety. 

2. CR 65 and the common law doctrine of waiver 
require immediate action to challenge a TRO 
certification 

In any event, it is immaterial if the certification was 

insufficient:  a party must timely object to faulty TRO 

procedures. See Hall v. Feigenbaum, 178 Wn. App. 811, 817-

18, 319 P.3d 61 (2014); Bd. of Trustees of Cmty. Coll. Dist. No. 
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6 v. Krasnowski, 5 Wn. App. 232, 236, 487 P.2d 231 (1971). 

The decision below departs from this rule in at least three ways.  

First, CR 65(b) contemplates parties alleging notice 

defects without delay: 

On 2 days’ notice to the party who obtained the 
temporary restraining order without notice or on 
such shorter notice to that party as the court may 
prescribe, the adverse party may appear and move 
its dissolution or modification and in that event the 
court shall proceed to hear and determine such 
motion as expeditiously as the ends of justice 
require. 

CR 65(b) allows an enjoined party to quickly move to 

dissolve a TRO if the applicant did not give reasons why notice 

should not be required under CR 65(b). The rule provides an 

immediate vehicle to correct notice deficiencies so that any 

such deficiencies can be fixed. And the rule requires

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