FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
12/5/2022 2:37 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/5/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 55806-8-II

101343-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

FOWLER NAT D. AND MARY M. dba FARM BOY DRIVE IN,

Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo, WSBA No. 46506 HARBOR APPEALS AND LAW, PLLC 2401 Bristol Court SW, Suite C-102 Olympia, WA 98502

Email: office@harborappeals.com

Phone: (360) 539-7156 Fax: (360) 539-7205

Attorney for Respondent

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

4. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

4.1. <u>Labor & Industries' Failure to Comply with RAP</u>
13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7) Mandate this Petition
be Denied.

RAP 13.4(c)(5), requires "[a] concise statement of the

13

⁵ Labor Industries cites "RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4)" in its introduction (Petition at 3) and in its one sentence conclusion (Petition at 32).

issues presented for review." *State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 624, 141 P.3d 13, 19 (2006). Other issues are not reviewed. RAP 13.7(b); *Korum*, 157 Wn.2d at 625. RAP 13.4(c)(7) requires both a concise statement *and* argument "of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section [RAP 13.4](b)."

Here, Labor & Industries' provided a single issue for consideration of review:

Must a defendant promptly object to a putative defect in a CR 65(b) certification in order to argue for a [ex-parte, no notice, temporary restraining order's] vacation. . . ?

(Petition at 4). The argument sections then do not contain any citations to RAP 13.4(b). No concise statements exist explaining how specific provisions of RAP 13.4(b) support the Petition. "[T]he reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section [RAP 13.4](b)" is unknown because such "tests" are not mentioned.

Consequently, Mary must guess at which provision of

RAP 13.4(b) the Petition is based. This failure to comply with RAP 13.4 is fatal to this Petition. *See* RAP 13.4(b); RAP 13.4(c)(7); RAP 13.7(b); *Korum*, 157 Wn.2d at 625. It should be denied on this basis alone. Arguendo, if both this request is denied and review is granted, review is limited to the sole issue presented for review. *See id*.

4.2. Division 2 Uncontroversially Held the Ex-Parte, No Notice, Restraining Order Violated Minimum Due Process Protections Because, For One Reason, There Was No Certification as to Why Mary Should Not be Provided Notice. The Order, Under Well-Settled U.S. Supreme Court and This Court's Precedent, is Void. No Reasons Under RAP 13.4(b) Justify Granting Review.

Under CR 65(b)(2), an ex-parte, no notice, restraining order "may only be granted" if "the applicant's attorney certifies . . . in writing . . . the reasons supporting the . . . claim that notice should not be required." This "prerequisite[] exist[s] to ensure that parties are afforded minimum due process protections." *In*

⁶ The failure to certify reasons for no notice being provided to Mary is one reason—of many—that the ex-parte restraining order violated Mary's due process rights.

re Estates of Smaldino, 151 Wn. App. 356, 367, 212 P.3d 579, 584 (2009). Once these due process protections are violated, the violation(s) cannot be undone:

If the right to notice and a hearing is to serve its full purpose, then, it is clear that it must be granted at a time when the deprivation can still be prevented . . . (N)o later hearing and no damage award can undo the fact that the arbitrary taking that was subject to the right of procedural due process has already occurred. 'This Court has not . . . embraced the general proposition that a wrong may be done if it can be undone.'

Olympic Forest Products, Inc. v. Chaussee Corp., 82 Wn.2d 418, 430, 511 P.2d 1002, 1009–10 (1973) (citing Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 645, 92 S. Ct. 1208, 1209–10, (1972)). Such void orders may be attacked at "any time." Dike v. Dike, 75 Wn.2d 1, 8, 448 P.2d 490, 494 (1968); Smaldino, 151 Wn. App. at 367.

Here, while it is unclear what provision of RAP 13.4(b) Labor & Industries is basing its Petition on, the above citations demonstrate RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), and (4) are a not a basis for review, unless this Court *wants to entertain creating a conflict* with U.S. Supreme Court and this Court's well-settled precedent.

What is equally clear is that notice was not provided to Mary before the trial court entered its ex-parte, no notice, restraining order. Nor was a certification provided to the trial court as to why notice could not be provided to her. Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Fowler, 516 P.3d 831, 843 (2022).

⁷ Astonishingly, the trial court also dispositively determined the

entire action, ex-parte without one word heard from Mary, when it ruled "the factual record establishes that . . . Farm Boy Drive In has continued to engage in indoor dine-in services [in violation the governor's proclamation]." This finding is even more shocking because it was based on anonymous double hearsay; an impartial tribunal this trial court was not as required by due process. See Olympic Forest Products, Inc., 82 Wn.2d at 431 (due process requires "an informed evaluation by a neutral official"). The ex-parte request for a restraining order should have been denied, and at most a contested hearing set with assurances that Mary would receive notice beforehand.

⁸ Labor & Industries argues—well beyond the scope of the Petition's concise statement of issues as to why review should be granted—that the agency's attorney did certify why notice could not be given to Mary. (Petition at 3, 18). This argument is meritless. Alleging that "Farm Boy" refused to comply with the governor's proclamation did not come close to satisfying CR 65(b)(2)'s burden of demonstrating for what reasons notice was not given to Mary before the ex-parte, no notice, restraining order was applied for (and granted). At best, alleging that there was "a risk of immediate and irreparable injury to employees" spoke to, but did not meet, the requirement of CR 65(b)(1).

Thus, Division 2—uncontroversially—reversed the trial court, citing the plain language of CR 65(b)(2) and caselaw repeated over many decades regarding due process requisites. *Id.*The law is well-settled that no notice, ex-parte, restraining orders in violation of minimal due process protections are a grave injustice, void, and may be attacked at any time. *E.g.*, *Stanley*, 405 U.S. at 645; Wa. Const. art. I, § 3; *Olympic Forest Products*, *Inc.*, 82 Wn.2d at 430; *Dike*, 75 Wn.2d at 8; *In re Groen*, 22 Wash. 53, 60 P. 123 (1900); *Smaldino*, 151 Wn. App. at 367.

Labor & Industries' Petition ignores and avoids attempting to distinguish directly applicable U.S. Supreme Court precedent as well as this Court's own precedent. Its citations to cases involving substantial compliance with time periods for filing "notice[s] of appeal", and the like9, are shockingly irrelevant.

⁹ Black v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 131 Wn.2d 547, 552, 933 P.2d 1025 (1997); In re Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 390, 986 P.2d 790 (1999); Skinner v. Civil Serv. Comm'n of City of Medina, 168 Wn.2d 845, 856-57, 232 P.3d 558 (2010).

The cases cited mentioning injunctions or restraining orders¹⁰ are plainly inapplicable and readily distinguishable.

As to Labor & Industries' claim that "COVID" is a catchall justification for blatant, avoidable, constitutional violations—it is not. This executive branch agency should be reminded of this—as a matter of checks and balances—with an order denying this Petition. Protecting a citizen's due process rights in the exparte, no notice, context of CR 65(b)(2) is paramount to all other concerns of any court, in all times, in all places, and under all circumstances. Period, end of Constitutional discussion. Anything less is arbitrary political rule by arbitrary men, not rule

_

¹⁰ Hall v. Feigenbaum, 178 Wn. App. 811, 817, 319 P.3d 61, 64 (2014) (finding party was "properly served and received adequate notice" of a preliminary injunction); Bd. of Trustees of Cmty. Coll. Dist. No. 6 v. Krasnowski, 5 Wn. App. 232, 233, 487 P.2d 231, 232 (1971) (constitutional due process not mentioned; rather, First Amendment issues raised; case involved actual documented damage to a college from riotous activity occurring before restraining order was entered; limited record mentioned provided, "Attempts were made to give oral notice of the proceedings to all those named"; ex-parte notice arguments were not raised; instead, party argued under CR 65 that preliminary injunction hearing should have been set sooner).

of law by the consent of the governed. *See e.g. Ex parte Milligan*, 71 U.S. (4 Wall.) 2, 120-21, 18 L.Ed. 281, 295 (1866) (U.S. Supreme Court during civil war holding "The Constitution of the United States is a law for rulers and people, equally in war and in peace, and covers with the shield of its protection all classes of men, at all times, and under all circumstances", that allowing the government to violate the constitution in an emergency leads to the most "pernicious consequences" that "was ever invented by the wit of man", and that constitutional provisions cannot be "suspended during any of the great exigencies of government.").

Stated another way, if due process protections could not be lawfully suspended during the civil war—they could not be suspended during COVID to trample minimal due process rights afforded to Mary. *See id.* This especially true since no person, employee, or customer has ever complained about, let alone ever caught COVID at, Mary's restaurant. Division 2 correctly reversed the trial court. There is no reason review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) or (4).

4.3. <u>In Attempting to Manufacturer a "Waiver" Argument Where None Exists, Labor & Industries is Either Very Confused or Is Attempting to Mislead This Court.</u>

"[O]ur entire jurisprudence runs counter to the notion of court action taken before reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard has been granted both sides of a dispute. . . . " Smaldino, 151 Wn. App. at 370 (citing American Can Co. v. Mansukhani, 742 F.2d 314 (7th Cir.1984)). "[T]he procedural hurdles of Rule 65 are intended to force both the movant and the court to act with great care in seeking and issuing an ex parte restraining order." *Id.* Rule 65(b) "is no mere extract from a manual of procedural practice. . . . It is a page from the book of liberty." Id. "The specific requirements of Rule 65(b) are not mere technical legal niceties." *Id.* "They are strongly worded, mandatory provisions. ..." Id. This is because a "temporary injunction can be an extremely powerful weapon, and when such an order is issued ex parte, the dangers of abuse are great." *Id*.

A judgment, decree, or order entered by a court entered

without inherent authority to do so, or in violation of the due process clause without notice and meaningful opportunity to be heard, is void. Wa. Const. art. I, § 3; Dike, 75 Wn.2d at 8; Sheldon v. Sheldon, 47 Wn.2d 699, 702, 289 P.2d 335, 336 (1955); Esmieu v. Schrag, 15 Wn. App. 260, 265, 548 P.2d 581, 585 (1976), aff'd, 88 Wn.2d 490, 563 P.2d 203 (1977); In re Marriage of Ebbighausen, 42 Wn. App. 99, 102, 708 P.2d 1220, 1222 (1985). Such due process violations are sometimes described as a court's "lack of jurisdiction over a [party]." e.g., *In re Marriage of Maxfield*, 47 Wn. App. 699, 704, 737 P.2d 671, 674 (1987)). The word "jurisdiction" in such context is used generally to describe the lack of "power and authority of the court to act." See e.g., Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. for State of Washington, 150 Wn.2d 310, 315, 76 P.3d 1183, 1185 (2003) (defining "jurisdiction" generally) (citing 77 Am.Jur. 2d Venue § 1, at 608 (1997)).

"A void order, judgment, or decree is a nullity and may be attacked collaterally" because it is as if the order never existed.

Dike, 75 Wn.2d at 8. Void orders are not subject waiver and may be "attacked at any time." See id.; Smaldino, 151 Wn. App. at 366.

Here, the law is well-settled. Waiver does not apply to CR 65(b) restraining orders entered ex-parte, where minimal due process protections—including notice and meaningful opportunity to be heard and/or the requisites of CR 65(b)(2)—have not been met. When hearing ex-parte matters under CR 65(b), "the dangers of abuse are great" and the trial court "must act with great care." If the trial court fails to respect the absent restrained party's minimal due process protections—there is no authority to act. Any order is "void", a "nullity", and may be "attacked at any time." *Dike*, 75 Wn.2d at 8; *Smaldino*, 151 Wn. App. at 366.

On the other hand, in other limited contexts, "waiver" as to personal jurisdiction can apply to insufficiency of process of pleadings, or as to improper venue, or the like.¹¹ Notices of appeal can be subject to substantial compliance standards. *See e.g.*, *fn 9, supra*. These contexts implicate due process rights, which are flexible in one situation but not in another, to a much lesser extent. In other words, the "dangers of abuse" and procedural rights at issue are not as "great" when allowing an appeal to go forward, or when allowing waiver to apply to the sufficiency of service of pleading for which no immediate, exparte, court relief is requested.

The Petition relies on cases dealing with the latter category. (Petition at 21-30).¹² The agency is attempting to manufacture a waiver argument where none exists, is genuinely confused, or is misleading this Court. Regardless, its cited cases provide no support for granting its Petition under RAP

_

¹¹ See e.g., CR 12(h).

¹² E.g., Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 38-40, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000); Redding v. City of Spokane, 81 Wash. 263, 265, 142 P. 664 (1914); Mellish v. Frog Mountain Pet Care, 172 Wn.2d 208, 221-22, 257 P.3d 641 (2011).

13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), or (4).

The frivolity of this Petition is showcased with citations to State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 558, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014) and Boddie v. Connecticut, 401 U.S. 371, 379, 91 S. Ct. 780, 786, 28 L. Ed. 2d 113 (1971). In *Johnson*, the court straightforwardly held the appellant's argument on appeal was waived, not any alleged due process violation. The *argument* was too insufficient and "naked" to warrant "consideration." The citation to Boddie is a downright misleading. When mentioning "waiver" in passing there, Justice Harlan clearly meant that if an indigent party pays filing fees in consideration of a trial court adjudicating his or her marriage dissolution—when he or she did not have to pay such fee under the due process clause because of his or her indigency status—the party may have waived his or her ability to compel a refund.

5. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

Under RAP 18.9(a), "An appeal is frivolous when the [it] presents no debatable issues on which reasonable minds could

differ and is so lacking in merit that there is no possibility of reversal." *Stiles v. Kearney*, 168 Wn. App. 250, 267–68, 277 P.3d 9, 17 (2012). In *Stiles*, frivolity was found, and fees awarded, because the arguments lacked merit, relied on "misunderstandings", and were not adequately brief. This Petition was cut from the same cloth.

It was not adequately briefed as the heart of the Petition—a single reason to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)—is not cited nor articulated. Its "naked castings into [RAP 13.4(b)] are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." *See Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d at 558. Only a profound misunderstanding of waiver doctrine applied to due process violations was supplied. There was an entire failure to address dispositive cases such *Olympic Forest Products, Inc.*, 82 Wn.2d 418. The agency grossly misrepresented several cited cases, *e.g.*, *Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, *Boddie*, 401 U.S. 371. Mary should not have had to pay an attorney thousands of dollars to educate the most powerful law firm in this state on many decades of well-

settled caselaw. Mary should recover attorney fees under RAP 18.9(a).

6. CONCLUSION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Mary respectfully requests this Court deny review, for the reasons stated herein, and award attorney fees pursuant to RAP 18.9(a) for having to respond to this frivolous Petition.